

Assessing the factors affecting adoption to certified sunflower oil seeds to smallholder farmers: A case study of Kalambo District Council, Tanzania.





ERASTO ANDINDILILE MWASOMOLA SEPTEMBER 2022 VELP,THE NETHERLANDS © Copyright Erasto Andindilile Mwasomola,2022 All Right Reserved Assessing the factors affecting adoption to certified sunflower oil seeds to smallholder farmers. A case study of Kalambo District, Tanzania

A Research Report Submitted to Van Hall Larenstein University of Applied sciences in partial fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Agricultural Production Chain Management

Specializing in Horticulture chain

Ву

Erasto Andindilile Mwasomola

September 2022, The Netherlands

Supervised by; Petros Maliotis

Examined by: Marco Verschuur

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs for awarding me a scholarship to study Agricultural Production Chain Management (APCM) at a professional master level through the Orange Knowledge Program (OKP) grant. I am grateful to my supervisor, Petros Maliotis, in lieu of his guidance, support, advice, and inspiration during the writing of this thesis. Thank you to all of the stakeholders who participated in this study. Their input was very valuable. I am glad to the Government of Tanzania for granting one-year study leave, the Department of Agricultural, Irrigation and Cooperative, Mr. Nicholas Mrango, and other Agricultural staff for their support. I want to thank God for His guidance and help during my studies.

Dedication

This research findings report is dedicated to Catherine Nyaki who is my partner, Enock, and lovely mother Ruth Mwalukasa, who suffered a year without my presence. This plaque is dedicated to the sunflower stakeholders in the Kalambo District in Tanzania

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii								
Dedication iii								
ABBI	ABBREVIATIONS vii							
Abst	act v	ii						
CHA	TER ONE : INTRODUCTION	1						
1.	. Background information	1						
1.	. Research problem statement	3						
1.	. Problem owner	3						
1.	. Research objective	3						
1.	. Research question	3						
CHA	TER TWO : LITERATURE REVIEW	4						
2.	. Certified seeds	4						
	2.1.2. Seed governance	5						
	2.1.3. Agricultural technology adoption.	5						
2.	.Determinant of technology adoption	6						
	2.2.1.Household specific factors	6						
	2.2.2.Socio-economic factors	7						
	2.2.3.Technology factors	7						
	2.2.4.Institutional factors	8						
	2.2.5. Seed accessibility	8						
2.	. Conceptual Framework	9						
2.	. Concept definition	9						
CHA	TER THREE : RESEARCH METHODOLOGY1	1						
3.	Study area1	1						
3.	Research Design	3						
3.	Research Framework1	3						
	3.3.1 Desk Research							
	3.3.2 Case study							
	3.3.3 Focus Group discussion1	4						
	3.3.4 Survey study1	4						
	3.3.5 Data collection1	4						
	3.3.6 Research design matrix1	5						

3.3.7 Tools of analysis	
3.3.8 Limitation of the study	16
3.3.9 Research planning	16
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS	
4.1 Sunflower stakeholders and their roles	
PESTEC of the smallholder sunflower value chain in Kalambo District	
SWOT analysis of the sunflower value chain in Kalambo	20
4.2 Determinants of farmers adoption to certified sunflower oil seed	22
4.3 Reason of not using certified sunflower seeds	23
4.4 Factors guiding choice of variety to grow	23
4.4.1.Quality of sunflower oil seed required by customers	24
4.4.2 Perception influences on adoption of certified sunflower seed	25
4.4.3 Respondents level of education	25
4.4.4 Respondents farming experience	26
4.4.5 Farm size of the farmer	27
4.4.6 Amount of sunflower harvested	27
4.5 Production challenges faced by smallholder farmers	28
4.6 Problems that farmers are facing on marketing	29
4.7 Marketing variable used by certified sunflower seed producers	29
Results from interviews	
CHAPTER FIVE : DISCUSSION	
5.1 Sunflower stakeholders and their roles	
5.2 Determinants of farmers adoption to certified sunflower oil seed	
5.3 Reason of not using certified sunflower seeds	
5.4 Factors guiding choice of variety to grow	
5.5 Production challenges faced by smallholder farmers	
5.6 Problems that farmers are facing on marketing	
CHAPTER SIX : CONCLUSIONS	
CHAPTER SEVEN : RECOMMENDATIONS	
References	
Appendix 1: Farmers' survey questionnaires	44
Appendix 2: Checklist Interview question	47
Appendix 3: Test statistics from analysis	50

Appendix : 4 Frequency Tables	59
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1 Certified sunflower varieties in Tanzania	5
Table 2 List of selected respondents	14
Table 3 Research design Matrix	15
Table 4 Time table for Research plan	16
Table 5 Stakeholder roles and their challenges	17
Table 6 PESTEC analysis of smallholder sunflower VC in Kalambo	19
Table 7 SWOT analysis of the sunflower VC in Kalambo	20
Table 8 Respondents level of Education	25
LIST OF FIGURES	
Figure 1.Conceptual framework	9
Figure 2 Map of Rukwa Region showing Kalambo District	
Figure 3 Research frame work	13
Figure 4 Sunflower value chain map of Kalambo	21
Figure 5 Rate of using certified sunflower seed	22
Figure 6 Respondents certified sunflower using in all Wards	22
Figure 7 Reason of not using certified sunflower seed	23
Figure 8 Choice of variety to be grown	24
Figure 9 Actual variety grown by farmers	24
Figure 10 Quality of sunflower oil seed required by customer	25
Figure 11 Comparison of certified seed uses with education	26
Figure 12 Respondents farming experience	26
Figure 13 Farm size of the farmer	27
Figure 14 Amount of sunflower seed harvested	28
Figure 15 Challenges on growing sunflower	28
Figure 16 Rate of extension services given to farmer per year through visit	29
Figure 17 Problems on marketing sunflower oil seed	29
Figure 18. Proposed sunflower value chain in Kalambo	

ABBREVIATIONS

ARDS	Agricultural Rooting Data System
ARI	Agricultural Research Institute
TADB	Tanzania Agricultural Development Bank
BRITEN	Building Rural Income Through Entrepreneurship
DC	District Council
EU	European Union
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
OPV	Open Pollinated Varieties
GAP	Good Agricultural Practice
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
KDC	Kalambo District Council
PESTEC	Political, Economic, Social, Technological, Environmental and Cultural
QDS	Quality Declared seed System
RC	Region Commissioner
RUDI	Rural and Urban Development Initiatives
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Science
SWOT	Strength, Weakness, Opportunity and Threat
TARI	Tanzania Agricultural Research Institute
TOSCI	Tanzania Official Seed Certification Institute
UN	United Nation

Abstract

Kalambo District in the Rukwa region of Tanzania is an important sunflower-growing area in the country. Several initiatives have been launched to develop the sunflower subsector, and more are planned. The key challenge facing farmers is increased productivity. This can be achieved by ensuring that their farming skills are in Sunflower oil seed, variety selection, pest and disease control, and other inputs. The work aimed on exploring the reasons that influence farmers' acceptance on certified sunflower oil seed.

This study was conducted using both qualitative and quantitative methods to acquire ancillary data then ground study to get prime data. The survey, interview, and FDG were used to help obtain information. A study was conducted in four villages in Kisungamile, Kizombwe, Mkowe, and Sopa, where 40 farmers were interviewed. The questionnaires asked about their farming practices and farming experiences. The results of the survey were obtained from the survey respondents.

The survey data was analyzed by IBM's Factual Bundle for Social Science software version 26. The subjective information was analyzed through the story method. Descriptive measurements were used to provide overviews and charts were connected to compare and differentiate different factors in the sample. Seventy percent of respondents do not use certified sunflower oilseed. The findings suggest that one of the main reasons farmers are reluctant to adopt certified sunflower seed is the high cost of certified seeds, as well as the lack of available extension services.

Keywords: Certified sunflower seed, Smallholder farmers, adoption, Kalambo District

CHAPTER ONE : INTRODUCTION

1.0. Background information

Agriculture is an important part of the Tanzanian economy, providing jobs and income for many people. Agriculture is a important part of the Tanzanian economy, accounting for over two-thirds of jobs and half of the country's GDP (Leavens et al., (2019). Sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) is an annual plant, native from temperate North America, which is one of the four most important oil seeds in the world. The sunflower is a well-suited crop for many regions of the world, as it is very drought-tolerant and can grow in a variety of soils (Vilvert et al., 2018). Because of sunflower oil's high quality and the resulting high demand, the cultivation of sunflower is spreading to countries in Asia and Africa (Jocic et al., 2015).

Isinika (2021) noticed that, Tanzania positions 10th on the planet among sunflower producer and second in Africa after South Africa. In East Africa, Tanzania is the main producer with the biggest region under development, and sunflower is accounted for to be the main eatable oil crop in Tanzania (NBS, 2019), filled in practically all locales of central area Tanzania, including the Rukwa district where Kalambo Region is found.

Sunflower production is overwhelmed by smallholder ranchers, who represent practically 95% of all producers and develop 2 ha or less, 4% are medium-scale ranchers (5 to 100 ha), and just 1% are huge scope ranchers (Isinika., et al., 2021). In Tanzania, around 6% of developed land is utilized for sunflower creation (Groot A., et al 2019). Tanzania's interest for eatable oil was assessed at 570,000 t each year in 2018 and is supposed to increment to 700,000 t by 2030 (BoT, 2017).

Nearby production jst meets around 30% to 45% of demand (CIAT & World Bank, 2017). Thus, the nation imports almost 320,000 tons yearly, worth over US\$83 million. Farmers' efficiency and paye expected to increment later (CIAT & World Bank, 2017). Inspite of somewhat great production and business conditions for sunflower development, Tanzania stays a net merchant of consumable oil . Public interest demand for eatable oil is expanding by 3% every year (Zhihua Zeng, 2017). An examination of the sunflower subsector shows that Tanzania can possibly build its intensity (BoT., 2017; RLDC 2010).

In Rukwa , where Kalambo district is found, most smallholder farmers accomplish an efficiency of 1 tone/ha of sunflower seed, which is low contrasted with the likely efficiency of 3 tons/ha. As per the Agricultural Routine Data System (ARDS, 2021) data, the typical production of sunflower seed per unit area in Kalambo District Council board for the 2020/2021 agricultural season was 1.1 tons/ha.

Kalambo District has decided to develop and strengthen the value chain of sunflower which take more than 17,712ha per season as the third leading crop in production as subsistence and a cash crop, and other three commodities which are maize value chain, fish value chain, and milk value chain. Previous study from one of the Kalambo staff member revealed that there was low production and productivity of sunflower oil seed in the District, and this was due to use of local seed ,lack of good agricultural practices ,poor access to market information and others. Improving sunflower production and productivity is expected to go hand-in-hand with the reducing sunflower post-harvest losses

1.1. Research problem statement

In spite of endeavors by the public authority and different partners to increment horticultural production and efficiency, for example, advancing the utilization of further developed crop assortments in Tanzania, sunflower efficiency is still generally low(Tibamanya et al., 2021). The public typical yield of sunflower is 0.6 tons/ha, contrasted with the possible yield of 3 tons/ha (Kombe et al., 2017).

Different analysts revealed that the reception of high-yielding advances including sunflower seeds by smallholder farmers has been displayed to further develop efficiency and homestead pay (Nata et al., 2014, Shiferaw et al., 2014, Afolami et al., 2015, Khonje et al., 2015, Mpeta 2015, Emerick et al., 2016). Mgeni and Mpenda (2021) noticed that the ongoing pace of change in sunflower cooking oil production each year is low. This present circumstance calls for partners and advancement actors to madiate and improve available technologies to increase farmers' productivity in sunflower seed production. Hence there is need to evaluate the elements that forestall farmers to take on confirmed sunflower seeds in Kalambo District Council.

1.2. Problem owner

Kalambo District Council is the main owners, as the main responsibility of the district agriculture department is to implement the policy by providing extension services to farmers.

1.3. Research objective

The objective of this research was to make an assessment of the factors limiting small holder farmer's adoption to certified sunflower oil seed at Kalambo District council.

1.4. Research question

Q1. What is hindering farmers' adoption to certified sunflower oil seed in Kalambo District council?

Sub questions

i). Who are the stakeholders and their role in the sunflower sub-sector in Kalambo District Council?

ii).What are the determinants of farmers adoption to certified sunflower oil seed?

iii).What are the production challenges faced by the sunflower farmers?

iv).What marketing variables are used by certified sunflower seed producers?

v).What are the challenges encountered by the certified sunflower seed producers in promoting their product to farmers?

CHAPTER TWO : LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter highlights previous studies about the key concepts used in this study. The chapter reviews issues relating to certified seeds, Agricultural technology adoption, Determinants of technology adoption, Household specific factor, Social-economic factor, Technological factor, Institutional factor, seed governance and seed accessibility in the sunflower value chain.

2.1. Certified seeds

According to Baglan et al.,(2020), certified seed is produced from seed of known genetic origin and genetic purity with controlled and audited production, processed and declared in accordance with the Seed Law. Certified seed is propagated under the supervision of the Ministry of Agriculture and Environmental Protection by seed producers formally registered in the Seed Register.

Seed processing is carried out in registered seed processing centers, and quality is tested in laboratories accredited for seed testing. The organization approved by the Ministry of Agriculture and Environmental Protection issues labels for packaging certified seed. With certified seed, the genetic potential of varieties in terms of quality and yield is exploited (Baglan et al., 2020).

There are few countries in the world that make full use of certified seed. The Republic of Croatia is an example of a country where the use of certified seed was 100% before joining the EU (Baglan et al., 2020). As in most other African countries, the seed industry in Tanzania consists of two systems: the informal sector and the formal sector (Mabaya et al., 2017).

The terms informal and formal seed systems are used to distinguish between the two different sources of genetic resources. Among smallholder farmers in SSA, most seed is sourced through the informal seed system, and only a small proportion of seed planted annually is sourced through formal market channels directly linked to plant breeding (Westengen et al.,2014).

According to Tibamanya (2022), seed quality control and certification in Tanzania is carried out by the Tanzania Official Seed Certification Institute (TOSCI). Since the 1950s, TOSCI has been working with the Agricultural Research Institute (ARI) and private seed companies within and outside the country to develop and market sunflower seed of both open pollinated varieties (OPVs) and hybrid varieties. However, only 8 of the 1,058 seed companies registered with TOSCI breed new sunflower varieties and have them certified with TOSCI. According to the Tanzania Official Seed Certification Institute (2017, 2020), only 17 sunflower varieties have been approved, released and disseminated in Tanzania (Tibamanya et al.,2022).

The government is working with the private sector and development agencies to increase the supply of affordable hybrid seeds, which typically yield 5-8t/ha and have higher oil content (43-48 per cent). In 2018/19, the government passed the Seed Registration and Financing Act, which, among other things, provides for accelerated registration of hybrid seeds for use in Tanzania. Since then, private investment in seed multiplication has increased. More than ten new locally bred hybrid seeds have been released and the price of high-yielding hybrid sunflower seed has been reduced by about 60 per cent from 70,000 TSh/kg to 30,000 TSh/kg (Dalberg 2019).

Table 1 Certified sunflower varieties in Tanzania

Sn	Variety	Туре	Year	Company	Yield/t/ha
1	RECORD	OPV	1950	ARI- Ilonga	1 -2
2	CRN 1435	Hybrid	1999	Monsanto South Africa	2 -2.5
3	PAN 7352	Hybrid	2002	Panna Seed Co.	1.5 – 2.5
4	KENYA FEDHA	OPV	2006	Kenya Seed Co. Ltd	3 -3.5
5	NSFH 36	Hybrid	2016	Sunflower development Co.	3.4
6	NSFH 145	Hybrid	2016	Sunflower development Co.	3.6
7	AGUARA 4	Hybrid	2016	Advanta Seed Co. Ltd	2 -2.5
8	HYSUN 33	Hybrid	2016	UPL-INDIA	2 - 4
9	ANCILLA	Hybrid	2019	East African Seeds (T) Co. Ltd	2.5
10	MICHEL	Hybrid	2019	East African Seeds (T) Co. Ltd	2.5
11	SOLEADO	Hybrid	2019	East African Seeds (T) Co. Ltd	2.5
12	ARCHEO	Hybrid	2019	East African Seeds (T) Co. Ltd	2
13	SUPERSUN64	Hybrid	2019	Silver lands Ndolela Ltd	2 - 3
14	SUPERSUN66	Hybrid	2019	Silver lands Ndolela Ltd	2 - 3
15	NALSUN 1-2018	OPV	2020	TARI	1.5 - 2
16	NALSUN 2-2018	OPV	2020	TARI	1.5 - 2
17	AGUARA 6	Hybrid	2020	Advanta seed co. Ltd	1.5 - 2

Tibamanya et al.,2022

2.1.2. Seed governance

The empirical data show that, in line with theoretical considerations, all stages of the seed supply system are affected by governance challenges. These challenges include limited participation of smallholder farmers in setting breeding priorities, limited private sector participation in seed production, limited capacity of an under-resourced public regulator to ensure high seed quality through mandatory seed certification, and over-reliance on a weak public extension system to promote improved varieties (Poku *et al.*,2018).

Tanzania does not have a stand-alone national seed policy. The National Agriculture Policy (2013) provides general policy guidelines for the development of agricultural inputs in the country (Mabaya *et al.*, 2017). Tanzania's Seeds Act (No. 18) was enacted in 2003. The Seeds Regulations followed in the same year. In 2014, Parliament passed an amendment to the Seeds Act (CAP. 308) that focused on strengthening the mandate of TOSCI, expanding the scope of quality-declared seeds and convening a forum for the seed sector. Since 2014, industry stakeholders have been in discussions with the government to update the existing regulations to be in line with the Seed Act 2014 (CAP. 308). The latest seed regulations were adopted in January 2017. The legal framework for plant variety protection is the Plant Breeders' Rights Act (2002). The last amendment to the Plant Breeders' Rights Act was passed in 2012 (Mabaya *et al.*, 2017).

As part of its efforts, the Government of Tanzania introduced the Quality Declared Seeds (QDS) production system around 2000 to promote the use of quality seeds (Levinson et al., 2013).

2.1.3. Agricultural technology adoption.

Different authors define technology in different ways. Levinson *et al* (2013) define technology as the means and methods of producing goods and services, including methods of organization and physical technique. There is continued interest in the adoption of new technologies and their impact on

productivity. To increase crop yields and sustain yield gains, recent case studies on technology adoption unanimously recommend the adoption of integrated agricultural management systems, especially in SSA.

The decision to adopt a particular agricultural technology does not happen overnight. The adoption process of a new agricultural technology starts with the adopter learning about the existence of the specific technology. In the next phase, the potential adopter analyses the information about the new technology and the potential adopter gets to know the characteristics of the technology better. In the third phase, the potential adopter conducts a trial or experiment before adopting the technology. Based on the perceived benefits of the technology, the individual goes through the fourth phase, which involves the actual adoption of the technology. Once the technology is adopted, the user can decide whether to continue using it or not, depending on the experience and benefits after adoption (Simtowe et al., 2016).

Takahashi *et al.*, (2020) pointed out that even when profitable technologies are potentially available, they may not be widely adopted, partly because of credit, insurance and other market-related constraints, and partly because of the ineffective information dissemination system, largely due to the lack of effective agricultural extension systems.

Research and development of new improved varieties suitable for local agro-climatic conditions and their dissemination are considered the most important means of increasing crop yields and improving the welfare of farmers in developing countries. The adoption of improved varieties generally has positive effects on farmers' yields and welfare (Takahashi *et al.*, 2020).

2.2.Determinant of technology adoption

Various studies have been conducted in Africa on the determinants of technology adoption, concluding that the decision to adopt agricultural technologies is influenced by demographic, socio-economic, institutional and plot factors (Zegeye *et al.*, 2022).

It was explored that the decision to adopt a new agricultural technology may be influenced by a number of factors such as household specific factors (gender, age, education level, household size, farming experience), socio-economic factors (farm size, cost of adopting a new agricultural technology, off-farm income, tropical livestock unit), technology factors, i.e. the characteristics of the new technology, and institutional factors (membership of a social group, access to extension services, access to credit, distance to nearest market (Berhanu, 2018; Obayelu et al., 2017).

2.2.1. Household specific factors

Among household-specific factors, the gender of the household head is one of the most commonly used variables of interest in the adoption of agricultural technologies. A review of the literature on factors influencing the adoption of new agricultural technologies in Ethiopia by (Berhanu, 2018) revealed that the prevailing social structure of rural households provides for differential responsibilities between male and female members and that women in most parts of rural Ethiopia are disadvantaged groups in society who do not have easy access to technological information, which could also be the case in Tanzania. For example, many studies have found that being a woman-headed household has a negative impact on the decision to adopt agricultural technologies. The study by (Launio *et al.*, 2018) on factors influencing the adoption of selected groundnut conservation and production technologies in Northern Luzon, Philippines, also found that the gender of the household has a statistically significant impact on the use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides in groundnut farms. Male farmers are more likely to use chemical fertilizers and pesticides in groundnut farms. In the same study, the gender of the household is found to have no significant effect on the use of inoculants and seed treatment. Similarly, Solomon et al. (2014)

confirmed the adoption of improved wheat varieties in Robe and Digelu Tijo districts of Arsi zone in Oromia region, Ethiopia, using a double hurdle approach that gender has a significant influence on the adoption of improved wheat variety.

Household education level is one of the most interesting variables in studies of agricultural technology adoption. In many studies, farmers' level of education is assumed to have a positive influence on farmers' decision to adopt a new technology because a farmer's level of education increases his or her ability to obtain, process and use information relevant to adopting a new technology (Mwangi & Kariuki, 2015). For example (Abay et al., 2016; Challa & Tilahun, 2014.

2.2.2.Socio-economic factors

Among socio-economic factors, farm size plays a prominent role in the adoption of agricultural technologies. Some studies have shown that farm size has a positive influence on the adoption decision. For example, Milkias and Abdulahi (2018) investigated the determinants of adoption of improved highland maize varieties in Toke Kutaye district, Oromia Regional State, Ethiopia, and found a significant positive effect. Numerous studies have found a positive and significant relationship between farm size and adoption of agricultural technologies. Yigezu *et al.* (2018), in their study on adoption of zero tillage among wheat and barley producers in Syria, found that relative area under wheat cultivation was the main determinant of the duration of adoption, rather than total area under cultivation. Accordingly, farmers with a large wheat area are likely to adopt zero tillage earlier than farmers with a small wheat area. Ponguane and Mucavele (2018), in their study on the determinants of agricultural technology adoption in Chókwè district, Mozambique, found that farm size has a significant and positive impact on the adoption of improved seeds and mechanization.

The cost of adopting new agricultural technologies is one of the most important variables constraining the process of agricultural technology adoption. It is clear from many studies that the high cost of agricultural technology is a major barrier to adoption. Djibo and Maman's (2019) study on the determinants of agricultural technology adoption in Niger reports that high prices of agricultural inputs have a negative effect on the adoption of improved seeds and a positive effect on the use of inorganic fertilizer.

Farmers who earn off-farm income are more likely to adopt modern agricultural technologies than farmers who do not use off-farm income sources. This could be due to the fact that in many developing countries, off-farm income can be an outlet through which farmers can overcome credit constraints to purchase agricultural technologies. Ponguane and Mucavele (2018) reported that farmers with other sources of income in Mozambique are more willing to adopt both mechanization and improved seeds because farmers with off-farm income can overcome financial constraints required to purchase these agricultural technologies. Challa and Tilahun (2014) also reported that non-farm income has a strong positive influence on households' decision to adopt new agricultural technologies.

2.2.3. Technology factors

The characteristics of the new technology are the crucial thing in the process of introducing agricultural technology. The associated characteristics of a technology are a prerequisite for the adoption of an agricultural technology (Mwangi & Kariuki, 2015) also pointed out the importance of the characteristics of an agricultural technology when it comes to conducting small-scale trials first before fully adopting agricultural technologies. Mignouna et al., (2011) studied the determinants of adoption of imazapyrresistant maize (IRM) technology in western Kenya and found that farmers who feel that the technology

is in line with their needs and compatible with their environment are likely to adopt it as they see it as a positive investment.

2.2.4.Institutional factors

Belonging to a particular social group is very important in a situation where there is information asymmetry regarding various agricultural technologies, as it paves the way for farmers to share information and learn from each other (Feyisa, 2020; Ketema et al., 2016). In addition, Simtowe et al. (2016) found that membership in a social/religious group has a negative significant impact on adoption decision, while membership in a farmers' association has no significant impact on the process of adopting agricultural technologies.

Access to extension services is one of the institutional factors in technology adoption decision. When farmers are informed about the existence, use and benefits of a new agricultural technology by extension workers, they can make a decision on the adoption of agricultural technologies. In this regard, many studies have advocated the positive effect of frequency of contact with extension agents in increasing the likelihood of adopting new agricultural technologies (Mignouna et al., 2011; Milkias & Abdulahi, 2018). In addition to increasing the likelihood of receiving up-to-date information on new agricultural technologies, extension agents or agricultural development workers in many developing countries can offset the negative impact of a lack of many years of formal training on the overall decision to adopt certain technologies.

Access to credit is considered one of the most important variables for the adoption of agricultural technologies. Simtowe *et al.*, (2016), in their study on the adoption of improved pigeon pea in Malawi, found that households that borrowed money from a credit institution were more likely to grow improved varieties of pigeon pea, consistent with the economic constraint paradigm of adoption models. Like off-farm income, access to credit can also go some way towards removing farmers' financial constraints to purchasing agricultural technologies. In this regard, studies in Ethiopia (Abay *et al.*, 2016; Feyisa, 2020; Milkias & Abdulahi, 2018) have found that access to credit can offset farmers' financial constraints to purchasing agricultural technologies.

The distance to the nearest market has a huge impact on the decision to adopt agricultural technologies and market agricultural yields. Amare and Simane (2017) found that distance to the nearest market has a negative impact on the likelihood of choosing different agronomic practices. They generalize that adoption of different technologies booms in areas with developed rural infrastructure and markets, as well as in areas where commercial farming is prevalent. Many studies on agricultural technology adoption have shown a significant and negative influence of distance to the nearest market on farmers' decision to adopt agricultural technologies (Milkias & Abdulahi, 2018; Hagos & Zemedu, 2015). In contrast, Feyisa (2020) in his meta-analysis on agricultural technology adoption in Ethiopia found that distance to market has a significant and positive effect on farmers' decision to adopt agricultural technology.

2.2.5. Seed accessibility

Accessibility is the degree of accessibility for users with different needs and preferences (UN, 2015). According to WUR (2017), seed accessibility implies the strategies and channels used by seed producers. Sometimes farmers only have access to what is available in the market, and so seed availability can determine farmers' access to seed. Also have demonstrated that poor accessibility to quality seed, the high cost of quality seed and farmers' lack of awareness of the existence and benefits of quality seed are reasons why smallholder farmers do not use quality seed.

2.3. Conceptual Framework

To conduct this research work, the following conceptual frame work will be used to generate the required information concerning the factors limiting small holder farmer's adoption to certified sunflower oil seed from the study area (see figure 2).





Author,2022.

2.4. Concept definition.

Value chain: The value chain describes the full range of activities that firms and workers do to bring a product from its conception to its end use and beyond. This includes activities such as design, production,

marketing, distribution and support to the final consumer. Value chain activities can occur within or between firms, within a single geographical location or spread across wider areas, and can produce goods or services (Mc Guffog,T.2016).

Stakeholders: people who are directly or indirectly involved in the sunflower value chain. These include actors, chain supporters and chain Influencers.

Policies: The policy is a law, regulation, procedure, administrative action, incentive, or voluntary practice of governments and other institutions. Policy decisions are frequently reflected in resource allocations. Health can be influenced by policies in many different sectors.

Socio-economic status: A way of describing people based on their education, income, and type of job. Socioeconomic status is usually described as low, medium, and high. People with a lower socioeconomic status usually have less access to financial, educational, social, and health resources than those with a higher socioeconomic status

Knowledge and information: information, understanding, or skill that you get from experience or education or the state of being aware of something.

CHAPTER THREE : RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter explains the area of the study, study design and data collection strategy and the way collected data were analyzed. It highlights how data was collected and analyzed. The research incorporates qualitative and quantitative methodology. It comprises primary and secondary data sources. Primary data were obtained through the interviews, focus group discussions and a questionnaire. The secondary data was obtained from desk study (books, journals, reports and internet search).

3.1 Study area

The study was conducted in 4 villages in Kalambo District Council, this is because of their potential in sunflower production. Kalambo District Council is located in the Southern highland of Tanzania, is estimated to be in latitude 8.15 and 32.1 south of the equator and Longitude 31 and 32.1 East Greenwich and Kalambo is found at 1700 M above the sea level.

It is estimated that Kalambo District council has total area of 1,165,101 Acres of which 124,541 Acres is water (10.49%) and 1,040,560 Acres land (89.31%). In 1,040,560 Acres of land,105,024.25 Acres is forest reserve (9.01%),1805 Acres is forest (0.15%),788,990 Acres is area potential for agriculture (75.82%). Administratively the head office of Kalambo District council is located at Matai which is 54Km from Sumbawanga municipal. The district has one constituency 5 Divisions,23 wards,111 Villages and 439 hamlets and population of 271,393 people with 54,279 households families.



Map of Rukwa Region and Kalambo District showing the study area.

Figure 2 Map of Rukwa Region showing Kalambo District

Author 2022

3.2 Research Design

The research approach includes together quantitative and qualitative through desk research to obtain secondary information and field research to obtain primary information through the use of interviews, questionnaire and focus group discussion.

3.3 Research Framework

The framework prepared as the diagram representation of the research objective through different steps necessary for the effective achievement of the research (Verschuren and Doorewaard, 2010). The research framework consists of desk study, field work for information gathering (survey), data analysis, conclusion and recommendations (see figure..). A value chain map will be used to map out the actors, supports and influencers of the chain.



Figure 3 Research frame work

Author 2022

3.3.1 Desk Research

Desk research was carried out to obtain secondary data on the concept of farmer's seed adoption. Also, it was used to answer research questions and compare results with what has already been researched. This information was extracted from books, journals, internet search and different agriculture reports in the Ministry, Department of Agriculture, Irrigation and Cooperative.

3.3.2 Case study

A face to face interview was conducted by using a check list to 3 government officer, 2 sunflower input supplier, 2 sunflower seed growers, 2 middlemen and 1 retailer. From the government officer the aim was to find out their functions, policies and regulations for sunflower oil seed value chain and how they are helping farmers' access certified sunflower oil seed. The middle men and traders was interviewed to find out what are the need for sunflower oil seed market, the selling and buying price of sunflower oil seed and the problems/constraints they face in sunflower business.

3.3.3 Focus Group discussion

One focus group discussions was conducted, farmers only was involved in the discussion, the reason behind involving farmers in FGD was to discuss in depths issue related to the limitation and opportunities about certified sunflower oil seed.

3.3.4 Survey study

The survey study was used both probability and non-random sampling. Forty farmers was purposively selected from 4 wards namely Matai, Mkali, Sopa and Mkowe. According to John and Christensen (2004), purposive sampling relies on the decision of the researcher. Based on high rate of production compared to other villages, one village was selected in each of the following Wards: Matai, Mkali, Sopa and Mkowe respectively.

In each village, a sample of 10 farmers was selected at random to ensure that each farmer has an equal chance of being selected. Their names ware written on a piece of paper, placed in a container and 10 pieces of paper are pulled out and the farmer whose name appears on it is selected. The same procedure was repeated in each village so that a total of 40 farmers are selected. A structured or semi-structured questionnaire was used to collect the information limitation for farmer's adoption to certified sunflower seed (quantities, chain relationships, market linkages, market information and barriers to accessing certified seed).

3.3.5 Data collection

Data collection was done by using different methods. Pre-test of the questionnaire ware done to test whether questions are clear to the respondents (farmers). Different actors ware interviewed for information gathering. Farmers, Traders, Other supporters and government staffs ware interviewed (see table 2)

Name of respondents	Ward	Institution	No. of members
Farmer	Matai	Kisungamile Village	10
Farmer	Mkali	Kizombwe Village	10
Farmer	Mkowe	Mkowe Village	10
Farmer	Sopa	Sopa Village	10
Focus Group Discussion			1
Government officer		District and Ward	3
		agricultural officers	
Trader			2
Middlemen			2
Retailer			1
Total	-	-	49

Table 2 List of selected respondents

Author,2022.

3.3.6 Research design matrix

The table 3. indicates the methods of data collection, tools for data collection, tools for data analysis and source of information.

Table 3 Research design Matrix

Sub -	Data	Data source	Tools		
Question					
i	Stakeholders and their	Desk research,	Internet Articles, Journals		
	roles in sunflower sub-	smallholder farmers,	and books		
	sector(Value chain)	Stakeholders and	Checklist		
		supporters			
ii	Determinants of farmers	Desk research,	Internet, Articles ,Journals		
	adoption to certified	smallholder farmers,	and books.		
	sunflower seed	Traders, processors and	Interviews(checklist),		
		chain supporters	questionnaire		
iii	Production challenges	Desk research,	Internet, Articles ,Journals		
	from farmers	Smallholder farmers	and books.		
			Interviews(checklist),		
			questionnaire		
iv	Marketing variables	Desk research,	Internet, Articles ,Journals		
		smallholder farmers,	and books.		
		traders and processors	Interviews(checklist),		
			questionnaire		
v	Seed producer challenges	Desk research, chain	Internet, Articles ,Journals		
		actors, seed	and books.		
		producer(breeders)	Interviews(checklist),		
			questionnaire		

Author,2022.

3.3.7 Tools of analysis

Stakeholder matrix

To identify the actors and supporters and their roles in the chain including the challenges they encounter.

Value chain map

For mapping the sunflower oil seed value chain in Kalambo district for identification of product flow, information flow and the overlays of the chain.

MS Excel

To indicate how value shares in the sunflower seed chain are distributed among the various actors using tables and charts

SWOT and PESTEC

To identify the major challenges and opportunities in the sunflower value chain

For analyzing different statistical parameters using graphs, chart and tables

3.3.8 Limitation of the study

The survey of this study was conducted from the end of June to the beginning of August, the busiest months of the year for farmers. It was a time when all the activities that was not done during the rainy season can be done during this period. It was a time for repair and maintenance of farm implements, houses, marriage ceremonies, initiation ceremonies and sacrifices, activities that ware done during the dry season. Therefore, there were many opportunities to interact with farmers. In some cases, it was difficult to reach all respondents as expected because they were busy with harvesting and other social activities.

3.3.9 Research planning

The following table (4) shows the plan of my research from May to September. It shows different activities that was done for each month

Activity		TIME														
Activity	May					Jur	ne		Ju	ly		Aι	igus	st	Se	pt
Research																
Proposal																
Data																
Collection																
Data Analysis																
Thesis																
Report																
writing																

Table 4 Time table for Research plan

Author,2022.

SPSS

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

The chapter provides the research findings.

4.1 Sunflower stakeholders and their roles.

The key informants were asked to mention the stakeholders in the sunflower value chain in Kalambo District in order to evaluate and relate the current sunflower seed situation to the way they act or they are coordinated. The interviews results showed that there are many stakeholders who play different roles in sunflower sub-sector. The stakeholders were then grouped into categories of actors, supporters and promotors. The Table shows that stakeholders and roles the key informants mentioned when asked about the stakeholders and their roles.

S/N	STAKEHOLDERS	ROLES	CHALLENGES
1.	Input suppliers OCP Tanzania Ltd ,Yara Tanzania Ltd, Tanzania Fertilizer Company	Supply inputs especially seeds, fertilizers and agrochemicals	 High transport cost from Dar es Salaam to Kalambo District. Poor road network. Shortage of improved seeds from ASA and Research Institutions.
2.	Producers	Producing sunflower seeds and selling to traders ,middlemen or oil millers	 High cost of inputs (seeds, fertilizer and agrochemicals). Reduced soil fertility. Difficult in assessing market information. Occurrence of diseases & pests. Bad weather (Excess rainfall). Little attention of government support to sunflower farmers. Low Farm productivity. Difficult in assessing financial support. Own farm sunflower seed (local seeds). Low farm gate price of sunflower.
3.	Middlemen	Buying sunflower seeds to farmers (packing) and selling.	 Use of unstandardized weighing scales. Existence of crop levies.

Table 5 Stakeholder roles and their challenges

4.	Retailers	Selling sunflower seeds to the local oil millers.	 Use of unstandardized weighing scales e.g. buckets and tins. Low oil content from poor sunflower seeds used.
5.	Whole sellers	For selling in bulk the sunflower oil to shops and supermarket	 Use of single filter oil machines. High cost of transport. Price fluctuations.
6.	Consumers	Final users of the final/end product	They consume what do not know their source.
7	TARI -ILONNGA	Conducting trials of improved seeds, research and soil test	Inaccessibility of certified seeds by farmers because of little investment by seed companies and other actors
8	ASA	Expanding seed production and distribution network	Low seed multiplication capacity
9	KDC-Kalambo District Council	Social services provider	 Low productivity caused by local seeds used by farmers Lack of Agricultural staff
	AGRA	Collaborate with Tanzania ministry of Agriculture to technical support the sub-sector	 Poor budget allocation from the public sector
	TOSCI	Seed registration	 Poor supervision to seed suppliers/distributers
	SAGCOT	Provide linkages to stakeholders	 Poor coordination among stakeholders within the chain
	TADB	Financial service providers	Majority of farmers have no collaterals to meet loan services
	NMB	Financial service provider	Majority of farmers have no collaterals to meet loan services

Source: Findings from interview (2022)

PESTEC of the smallholder sunflower value chain in Kalambo District

Table 6 PESTEC analysis of smallholder sunflower VC in Kalambo

POLITICAL	ECONOMIC	SOCIAL	TECHNOLOGICAL	ENVIRONMENTAL	CULTURAL
 High taxes Changes of rules and regulations 	 High input costs Inadequate access to credit Low income High transport costs Price fluctuation Fixed pricing 	 High illiteracy rate Smallholder farming Slow adoption to improved seed varieties 	 Low level of technology adoption Inadequate information Poor pest and diseases control Insufficient extension services Poor infrastructure Poor quality of produces (use of single refined 0il milling machines) 	 Climate change Pests and diseases Over raining Unreliable rainfall 	 Male dominance on decision making

Author 2022

SWOT analysis of the sunflower value chain in Kalambo

Table 7 SWOT analysis of the sunflower VC in Kalambo

INTERNAL		
FACTORS	STRENGTH	WEAKNESS
1	Availability of Arable land for Sunflower	Low farm gate price of supflower
1.	production	Low farm gate price of sumower
2.	Availability of land for Irrigation	Lack of market information
3.	Presence of extension officers	Lack of knowledge
4.	Presence of ox and power tillers	Improper management of water in the farm from rainfall and natural flowing rivers
5.	Availability of feeder roads	Use of improper agronomic practices
6.	Presence of small oil millers	Limited access to loans
7.	Presence of plenty rainfall	High transport cost
8.	Accessibility of roads to towns	Post-harvest losses
9.	Availability of rivers for irrigation	Few processing industries(oil milling machines)
10.		Uses of local seeds(own farm sunflower seed)
EXTERNAL		
FACTORS	OPPORTUNITY	THREATS
1.	High demand of cooking oil in the country	Occurrence of pest and disease
2.	Presence of international market for sunflower oil	Unpredictable weather changes
3.	Availability of NGO's and research institutes to promote sunflower crop	Shortage of extension officers at village level
4.	Availability of numerous varieties of sunflower oil seeds in the district	Trade restriction
5.	Availability of agro dealers	Increasing crop levies

Author 2022



SUNFLOWER VALUE CHAIN MAP OF KALAMBO DISTRICT DISTRICT COUNCIL

Figure 4 Sunflower value chain map of Kalambo

Source: Authors interview data and literature

4.2 Determinants of farmers adoption to certified sunflower oil seed

This section is presenting the findings about the determinants of farmers adoption to certified sunflower oil seeds which were acceptability, perception, availability, affordability and attractiveness.

During the field survey respondents were asked as to whether they use certified sunflower oil seed or not , the result show that most of farmers do not use certified sunflower oil seed(70%) as indicated in figure 5 Below



Figure 5 Rate of using certified sunflower seed Source: Author survey data 2022.

However, Mkowe ward had a large proportion of respondents who use certified sunflower oil seed much more than other wards as indicated in the figure 6.



Figure 6 Respondents certified sunflower using in all Wards Source: Author survey data 2022

4.3 Reason of not using certified sunflower seeds

Farmers reaction on the reason of not using certified sunflower oil seed in four wards indicates that , the affordability to price of seed variety is the most influencing factor in all wards surveyed as indicated in the figure 7 below.



If you are not using certified sunflower seed can you rate the reason from the list

Figure 7 Reason of not using certified sunflower seed

Source: Author survey data 2022.

One way ANOVA test was conducted to compare the reason of not using certified sunflower seed four wards at level of confidence of 95%. The P-value 0.916 (P> α =0.05) indicated that there is no significant difference reason of not using certified sunflower seed between the ward of Matai , Mkali , Sopa and Mkowe (Appendix 4).

4.4 Factors guiding choice of variety to grow

Farmers reaction on the factor guiding their choice for sunflower varieties to grow in the four wards indicates that the financial return of the variety per hectare is the most influencing factor as indicated in figure 8, other factor mentioned was resistance of the variety to diseases and variety needed in the market.



Figure 8 Choice of variety to be grown

Source: Author survey data 2022.

The actual variety grown

Respondents were asked about the actual sunflower variety that they are growing in order to add an insight about their sunflower variety preference and they mentioned local variety as the most used variety for growing sunflower (70%) and improved variety(certified)(30%) as indicated in the figure 9.



Figure 9 Actual variety grown by farmers **Source: Author survey data 2022.**

4.4.1.Quality of sunflower oil seed required by customers

Respondents were asked about what are the quality of sunflower seed that their customer need, most of them mentioned that oil content(87.5%) their customer prefers sunflower oil seed with high oil content as indicated in figure 10.



Figure 10 Quality of sunflower oil seed required by customer Source: Author survey data 2022.

4.4.2 Perception influences on adoption of certified sunflower seed

Respondents were asked about their level of education ,experience in farming ,size of their farm and amount they harvest ,in order to get well understanding on how these characteristics influence their perception about certified sunflower oil seed.

4.4.3 Respondents level of education

Regardless of the all wards surveyed, the largest group of respondents were at primary education level as it shown in table 7.



Table 8 Respondents level of Education

Source: Author survey data 2022.

The responses shows that there is a high use of local sunflower varieties by the less educated than by higher educated farmers as shown in figure 11. However with Chi -square test for the difference in education background on the use of certified sunflower seed shows that there is significant difference on the use of certified sunflower seed with education background , with P-value of 0.000(P< α 0.05) Appendix 3.1(b)



Figure 11 Comparison of certified seed uses with education

Source: Author survey data 2022.

4.4.4 Respondents farming experience

Most of the respondents with less experienced in farming responded to use certified sunflower oil seed as depicted in figure 12.



Figure 12 Respondents farming experience

Source: Author survey data 2022.

However the Chi -square test for the difference in the use of certified sunflower seed farmers with experience in farming indicates that there was a significant difference in the use of certified sunflower

seed between the different year of experience on sunflower farming ,with P-value of $0.003(P=0.003<\alpha=0.05)$ Appendix 3.1(a))

4.4.5 Farm size of the farmer

Respondents were asked about their farm size that they use to grow sunflower, the responses shows that those farmers with less farm size were able to use certified sunflower seed (30%) than those farmers with large farm size as it is depicted in the figure 13.



What is the area of farm under sunflower cultivation?

Figure 13 Farm size of the farmer

Source: Author survey data 2022

4.4.6 Amount of sunflower harvested

Respondents were asked about the amount of sunflower seeds they harvest per acre, the responses show that farmers who harvest more than 6 bags per acre use certified sunflower seed as indicated in the figure 14.



Figure 14 Amount of sunflower seed harvested

Source: Author survey data 2022.

4.5 Production challenges faced by smallholder farmers

Farmers were asked about the challenges that they are facing on sunflower farming, respondents mentioned different challenges due to their experience on farming, their answers were grouped into five themes as input challenges (pests and diseases, low productivity, high price of Agricultural inputs, delaying of Agricultural inputs and low extension services. The responses have been illustrated in figure 15



What are challenges do you face in growing sunflower?

Figure 15 Challenges on growing sunflower

Source: Author survey data 2022.

The main challenge respondents mentioned in all four wards was pest and diseases, another important challenge mentioned was low productivity of the sunflower seed and high price of agricultural inputs,
Extension services to farmers through visiting



Figure 16 Rate of extension services given to farmer per year through visit **Source: Author survey data 2022.**

4.6 Problems that farmers are facing on marketing

Respondents were asked on what problems they are facing on sunflower marketing, most of the respondents mentioned low price of sunflower seeds was most marketing problem, another mentioned problem was the use an authorized measuring standard and low bargain power as shown in the figure 17.





Figure 17 Problems on marketing sunflower oil seed Source: Author survey data 2022.

4.7 Marketing variable used by certified sunflower seed producers

This results comes from interview asked to key informants on how the certified sunflower seed producers market their seeds in order to understand how it relates to certified sunflower seed adoption.

Product

Certified sunflower seeds mentioned that seeds produced by producers are only Record and Kenyafedha seeds, other varieties like AGUARA 4, HYSUN 33, CRN 1435, NSFH 145 and Super sun 64 and 66 they are imported from outside the country.

Price

During the interview farmers were asked about the price of certified sunflower varieties ,most of them mentioned that the price for Kenya fedha and Record was Tsh 8000/2kg and other certified varieties its prices ranges from Tsh 25000 to Tsh 35000/kg (Hysun 33,Aguara 4 and others).

Place

From the interview respondents were asked whether they are using certified sunflower seed and if they are not using to mention the source of their seed so as to understand how the producers market their seed to farmers, most of the respondents use their saved on farm seed(70%) and the remaining source their certified seeds from Agrovets at Matai center the headquarter town of Kalambo District.

Promotion

Respondents were asked to give the means on how they get the availability of the certified sunflower seed, most of them mentioned that they hear about certified sunflower seeds from other farmers and others from extension officer.

Results from interviews

Interview with research institution(TARI-Ilonga, Mr Frank M. Reuben)

the trend of using certified sunflower seeds in Tanzania and in Rukwa Region

The trend of using certified seeds is increasing in Tanzania. This has been attributed due to increase of production of pre-basic, basic seeds by Tanzania Agricultural Research Institute (TARI), supply of certified seeds by Agricultural Seed Agency (ASA), Seed Companies and QDS by contract farmers.

factors affecting adoption of certified sunflower seed by smallholder farmers

- lack of information, capital constraints and subsidies
- Some farmers especially women and youth lack land
- Lack of assurance on the performance of improved sunflower varieties supplied by some seed importing companies .

contributions of research institutions to the sunflower sub sector in Tanzania

TARI llonga has a national mandate to coordinate sunflower research in Tanzania. The institute develops sunflower varieties and associated technologies through breeding, research and innovation. The Institute supports private sector for evaluation of sunflower genotypes for release in Tanzania. TARI has technology transfer department which conducts on-farm trials, demonstration plots, farmer field days and agribusiness expos which are useful in supporting the farmers. The technology transfer uses mass media outlets that create awareness which increases adoption to our technologies among farmers. The recent research and technology transfer efforts by TARI have resulted in better sunflower farming practices, use of new improved sunflower varieties, and improvements in farm management practices. However, the

farmers to gain from these improved technologies is through adoption, after perceiving them to be beneficial and profitable under their farm conditions.

the challenges facing the sunflower sub sector

Low productivity: Sunflower production in Tanzania is growing, and 70% of the sunflower farmers are women who live in rural areas that depend on the crop as a source of livelihood. The sector is not growing fast enough to meet edible oil adequacy. Much of the production growth achieved to date is by the expansion of cultivated land area. In the face of an increasing population and demand of edible oil, there is a need of increasing productivity.

improving the sunflower sub sector

Sunflower sub-sector is still an important economic sector, and it employs over 8% of working adults. Improving sunflower production and productivity through adoption of improved technologies such as improved seeds, fertilizers, and irrigation is an important pathway that will improve livelihoods of the majority. Adoption of new and improved practices, expansion of rural financial markets, increased capital and equipment ownership, and development of research and extension linkages could all contribute to increases in productivity.

Results from Focus Group Discussion

The focus group discussion was contained almost 90% women due to their highly dominating the sunflower sub-sector at Kalambo District. The group discussion was conducted at Sopa Village at Kanyezi AMCOS's meeting room, where the main issue for discussion was the factors limiting adoption to certified

Partner in day to day production of sunflower : Farmers mentioned that their day to day partner on sunflower production are their fellow farmers.

Areas where cooperation with partners : farmers responded that they cooperate on selling their sunflower oil seed.

Services that they get from NGOs in sunflower sub-sector : farmers mentioned that the services that they get from NGOs sometimes are different training but normally occurs.

Services from District council :Respondents concluded that there is very low services from the District council due to absence of agricultural extension officers.

Buyers of sunflower oil seed :Farmers responded that the buyers of their sunflower oil seeds are small local buyers/middle men.

The price of certified sunflower seed per kilogram : Farmers mentioned that the price for certified sunflower oil seed in their area are Tsh 6000/kg for record and Tsh 35000/kg for other hybrid seeds.

Satisfied with the price of certified sunflower seed : Most of the respondents shows that they did not satisfied with the price of certified seeds due to high price.

Knowing about certified seed : Farmers responded that they have low knowledge about certified sunflower seed.

Accessing certified sunflower seed for growing :Farmers responded that they buy certified sunflower seed from Sumbawanga town 75 Km from Sopa village.

Challenges encountered in using certified sunflower seed :Farmers mentioned that there is absence of input suppliers ,diseases and pest ,high price of agricultural inputs ,delaying of seeds with the seasonal calendar of agriculture and lack of survey on soil fertility status.

CHAPTER FIVE : DISCUSSION

5.1 Sunflower stakeholders and their roles

This study discovered that there is various stakeholders who have been categorized as actors and supporters. Some of the supporters of the sunflower subsector are NGOs such as BRITEN and RUDI who are organizing farmers into cooperatives in order to support farmers in areas of access to inputs, access to good markets and participate in farmer group awareness. Having other partners that underpins the sunflower sub-sector is an advantage to Kalambo farmers. The Ministry of agriculture Through Kalambo District council provides extension services in spite of the fact that it has been shown by this study that extension services is insufficient as farmers demonstrated on figure 16 that farmers were hardly visited by extension officers . Therefore, there is the need for improving provision of extension services delivery to farmers.

5.2 Determinants of farmers adoption to certified sunflower oil seed

Acceptability

Farmers considered the sunflower variety with high oil content and the variety which are resistant to pest and diseases so as to reduce risks. Farmers mentioned record and kenyafedha as the sunflower certified seed they grow, however the finding shows that there is low adoption rate of certified sunflower oil seed and most of the adopted varieties are record and kenyafedha . This implies that out of all certified sunflower oil seed registered record and kenyafedha are the variety which some of the farmers are trying to adopt .This could be due to disease and pest tolerant and longtime of using the variety.

Perception

The results indicates that most of the respondents who grow local seeds have primary level of education .There is significance difference between the use of certified sunflower with farmers education background, the result have shown that as the farmers possess more education background the percentage of not using certified sunflower seed decreases (Figure 16). The findings shows that all farmers with secondary education and above are likely to understand the new technology and practice it as the frequencies of promoting the required technology will be enough given, which in one way or another affect the adoption rate of the certified seed.

Mignouna et al .,(2011) moreover revealed that education level of a farmer increments his capacity to get; prepare and utilize information appropriate to adoption of a new innovation . level of education had a positive and critical impact on the selection of the innovation. Typically since higher instruction impacts respondents' demeanors and considerations making them more open, levelheaded and able to analyze the benefits of the unused innovation (Waller et al., 1998).

Availability

During the Focus Group Discussion it was said that accessibility of certified sunflower seed to their area is the foremost challenge which affect their cultivating ,this might be due to the poor extension services delivery and information on the need of certified seed by the farmers. The respondents said that they purchase certified seed exceptionally distant from their range which increment their costs. According to WUR (2017), Sometimes farmers only have access to what is available in the market, and so seed availability can determine farmers' access to seed. Also confirmed that poor availability to certified seed, the high cost of certified seed and farmers' lack of awareness of the existence and benefits of certified seed are reasons why smallholder farmers do not use certified seed.

Affordability

Most of the respondents when asked their opinion mentioned that they are not able to afford the cost of using certified sunflower seed ,during the discussion farmers said that the price of certified sunflower seed is very high(Figure 15).

5.3 Reason of not using certified sunflower seeds.

When farmers asked to give reason on why they are not using certified sunflower oil seeds, respondents gives the reasons said that they cannot afford it, they have no information about certified sunflower seed, they do not believe if it is better than informal sunflower seed, others with no reason and that it is not the variety of their choice (Figure 7), however about a half of the respondents reason shows that they don't use certified sunflower seeds without giving its cause. The findings shows that low income and low awareness of certified sunflower seed to many farmers contribute to them to have low adoption rate.

Tibamanya at el.,(2021) also discovered that smallholder farmers appeared to have deficiently finance to purchase certified sunflower seed due to its cost , hence the foremost reason of farmers not utilizing certified sunflower seed is need of adequate cash to cover the seed costs. This proposes a predominance of insufficient information on the opportunity fetched and benefits of owning fluid resources and credits in financing cultivating inputs(Tibamanya at el., (2021).

5.4 Factors guiding choice of variety to grow

Respondents reaction on the factor guiding their choice for sunflower varieties to grow in all wards indicates that the financial return of the variety per hectare was the most influencing factor as indicated in figure 8, other factor mentioned was resistance of the variety to diseases and variety needed in the market. In any case, most smallholder farmers exceptionally once in a while purchase certified seeds but more often than not sow seeds that they retained from the seeds that they gathered within the past developing season (Kosmowski et al., 2018).

5.5 Production challenges faced by smallholder farmers

Respondents mentioned different challenges due to their experience on farming, their answers were grouped into five themes as input challenges (pests and diseases, low productivity, high price of Agricultural inputs , delaying of Agricultural inputs and low extension services (Figure 15).

Adeleke and Babalola(2020) said that ,sunflower production is being prevented by numerous variables, which can be biotic or abiotic. In common, its production challenges incorporate diminished soil fertility ,lack of improved seed varieties, unpredictable rainfall, low rainfall, undependable markets, price fluctuations, and the high price of agricultural inputs (such as fertilizers and chemicals). Others are bothers , destitute agricultural extension services, lack of awareness, absence of farm tools, attacks by birds, competition from edible oil imports, and extraordinary climate conditions.

Also adequate information about planting, seed rate, the type and quantity of fertilizers to be applied, infection and bother control, and promoting accessibility is imperative to attaining optimal yield in sunflower farming (Gupta, 2014).

5.6 Problems that farmers are facing on marketing

Respondents were asked on what problems they are facing on sunflower marketing, most of the respondents mentioned low price of sunflower seeds was most marketing problem, another mentioned problem was the use an authorized measuring standard and low bargain power as shown in the figure 17.

The functioning of markets in numerous countries was obliged by higher costs and coordination issues along the producer-consumer value chain (Bekele, S. et al, 2008).

According to Pote (2008) on the off chance that agricultural markets are not appropriately investigated and the necessities met, such openings will stay slippery to most farmers. Besides , in the event that there is data asymmetry, need of foundation, credit offices and high exchange costs among others; small scale farmers will be rendered defenseless to different sorts of showcase flaws. Bekele and others (2008) propose organization advancements to fortify maker organizations and the arrangement of collective showcasing bunches as a way to cure inescapable advertise disappointments in country economies.

Reflection

This work mirror my own job as a scientist when I was doing the entire exploration process. Experience about research recognizing factors influencing adoption of certified sunflower seed by smallholder farmers in Kalambo through planning, arranging ,execution ,change and methodology.

Research process and methodology

The research process was started with the research proposal which completed before I started the process of data collection, analysis and finally results was to be discussed and produce conclusions. All the processes need to be geared towards the objective of the research. It started with the choice of my thesis topic.

The selected value chain of sunflower was based on the personal experience as an extension officer in Kalambo District and that obtained from literature review. I also selected the sunflower value chain as the chain to spotlight during the module Value Chain Analysis. The experience that I got from the previous module lead me into choosing sunflower as the chain of my thesis topic.

The research proposal that was guiding the whole process was prepared in the period of May-June. The objective of this research was to make an assessment of the factors limiting small holder farmer's adoption to certified sunflower oil seed at Kalambo District council. I had an inclination that leading actual overview is the experience that was required to investigate more through perception and I acquired distribute during the field review.

CHAPTER SIX : CONCLUSIONS

The following are the conclusions which are based on the results from the field survey, interviews, observations and from literature review.

1.Limitation to adoption of certified sunflower seed to smallholder farmers at Kalambo District are the following.

- a) Pest and disease The study observer that sunflower producers have been affected by pests and disease which lower their production and hence lower their morale of investing much in sunflower production.
- b) Price of Agricultural inputs -The findings shows that farmers are experiencing high production costs which caused by high price of agricultural inputs especially certified sunflower seed and fertilizer, this contributes much for not using certified sunflower seed to many smallholder farmers.
- c) Extension services delivery the study observed that sunflower farmers have been shown to have very low good agricultural practices which contribute to low sunflower productivity, the absent of agricultural officer from government and private institutions affects much the lack of awareness on good farming practice and other innovation.
- d) Low promotions on the use of certified sunflower seeds The study also observed the low promotion done by certified seed producers and other seed company on use of certified seed to farmers this has contributed to low production and productivity of sunflower oil seed.
- e) Low linkages between farmers and other stakeholders within the sunflower value chain It has been observed weak linkages between stakeholders in sunflower value chain in Kalambo District. Also it has been found that sunflower stakeholders in Kalambo district have poor relationship among each other which this weakening the development of the sunflower value chain.
- f) Lack of support from the government and financial institutions has discouraged farmers to integrate along the sunflower value chain which lower sunflower value chain development.

CHAPTER SEVEN : RECOMMENDATIONS

Basing on my study findings ,the study recommends the following to be implemented.

- ✓ The government with other sunflower stakeholders to formulate stakeholder meeting to discuss and solve some constraints together and strengthen their relationship.
- ✓ The government to formulate farmers group and cooperative societies and training them to the preparation of starting producing quality declared seed (QDS) to increase sunflower production , oil production and resolve the challenges of availability and accessibility of certified sunflower seed.
- ✓ The government together with other seed companies to provide extension services to farmers on the good agricultural practices for sunflower and other crops.
- ✓ The government together with processors and traders to establish sunflower contract farming with smallholder farmers so as to give assurance to both farmers, traders and processors for their output.
- ✓ The government through their extension officers and research institutes to breed sunflower seed which will resistant to pests and diseases and find out the solution of the existing sunflower diseases and pests.
- ✓ I will work to gather with researchers, NGOs and other actors within the sunflower value chain to provide extension services to farmers, assisting in organizing farmer's group and initiate the process of obtaining quality declared seed from the seed producer company or researchers, also facilitating platforms of sunflower stakeholder meeting to support the development of sunflower value chain in Kalambo District.



PROPOSED SUNFLOWER VALUE CHAIN MAP OF KALAMBO DISTRICT

Figure 18. Proposed sunflower value chain in Kalambo

Source: Survey field data 2022.

References

Abay, K. A., Berhane, G., Taffesse, A. S., Koru, B., & Abay, K. (2016). Understanding Farmers' Technology Adoption Decisions: Input Complementarity and Heterogeneity. ESSP Working Paper 82,Ethiopian Strategy Support Program (ESSP), Ethiopian Development Research Institute (EDRI), International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

Adeleke, B.S. and Babalola, O.O. 2020. Oilseed crop sunflower (Helianthus annuus) as a source of food: Nutritional and health benefits. Food Sci. Nutr., 8(9): 4666–4684.

Afolami, A.C., Obayelu, E. and Vaughan, I. (2015), "Welfare impact of adoption of improved cassava varieties by rural households in South Western Nigeria", Agricultural and Food Economics, vol. 3, no. 18. and impacts on household food security in Ethiopia", Food Policy, vol. 44, pp. 272–284.

Amare, A., & Simane, B. (2017). Determinants of Smallholder Farmers' Decision to Adopt Adaptation Options to Climate Change and Variability in the Muger Sub-basin of Upper Blue Nile Basin of Ethiopia. Agriculture & Food Security, 6(1), 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-017-0144-2 [Crossref], [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

Baglan, M., Mwalupaso, G.E., Zhou, X. and Geng, X., 2020. Towards cleaner production: Certified seed adoption and its effect on technical efficiency. Sustainability, 12(4), p.1344.Available online at: <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/12/4/1344</u> [Accessed on 24 May 2022 at 22:50]

Bekele, S. et al (2008) "Rural Markets imperfections and the role of Institutions in collective action to improve markets for the poor" natural resources forum Vol. 32, Issue 1 pp25-38.

Berhanu, M. (2018). A Review on Factors Affecting Adoption of Agricultural New Technologies in Ethiopia. Journal of Agricultural Science and Food Research], 9, 3. https://www.longdom.org/open-access/a-review-on-factors-affecting-adoption-of-agricultural-new-technologiesin-ethiopia.pdf [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

BoT. (2017). "Bank of Tanzania: Potentiality of Sunflower Sub-sector in Tanzania", BoT Working Paper Series 10:

http://www.bot.go.tz/Publications/Working%20Papers/Potentiality%20of%20Sunflower%20Subsector%20in%20Tanzania.pdf.

Challa, M., & Tilahun, U. (2014). Determinants and Impacts of Modern Agricultural Technology AdoptioninWestWollega:TheCaseofGullisoDistrict.4,20.https://www.iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JBAH/article/view/15700/16097 [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

CIAT & World Bank. 2017. *Climate-Smart Agriculture in Tanzania. CSA Country Profiles for Africa Series*. International Center for Tropical Agriculture (CIAT); World Bank, Washington, D.C. 25p

Dalberg, (2019) 'Progress Review of Industrialization in Tanzania's Sunflower Sector'.

Djibo, O., & Maman, N. M. (2019). Determinants of Agricultural Technology Adoption: Farm Households Evidence from Niger. Journal of Development and Agricultural Economics, 11(1), 15-23. https://doi.org/10.5897/JDAE2018.0998 [Accessed on 7 June 2022,] Emerick, K., De Janvry, A., Sadoulet, E., Dar, H.M. (2016). Technological innovations downside risk, and the modernization of agriculture. American Economic Review, 106 (6), 15371561.

Feyisa, B. W. (2020). Determinants of Agricultural Technology Adoption in Ethiopia: A Meta Analysis. Cogent Food & Agriculture, 6(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932.2020.1855817 [Taylor & Francis Online], [Web of Science [®]], [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

Groot, A., Demissie, T., Duku, C., Budding-Polo, M., Kabuka, G., Nkenja, E., Ninga, K., Lyimo, R., Recha, J.W., Osumba, J. and Schonenberg, P., 2019. Sunflower Tanzania: Climate change risks and opportunities.

Gupta, M.K. 2014. Sunflower oil and its applications. Lipid Technology, 26(11–12): 260–263.

Hagos, A., & Zemedu, L. (2015). Determinants of Improved Rice Varieties Adoption in Fogera District of Ethiopia. Science, Technology and Arts Research Journal, 4(1), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.4314/star.v4i1.35 [Crossref], [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

improved maize varieties in Eastern Zambia", World Development, vol. 66, pp. 695–706.

Isinika, A. and Jeckoniah, J., 2021. The Political Economy of Sunflower in Tanzania: A Case of Singida Region.

Isinika, A.; Jeckoniah, J.; Mdoe, N.; and Mwajombe, K. (2021) Sunflower Commercialisation in Singida Region: Pathways for Livelihood Improvement, APRA Working Paper 67, Brighton: Future Agricultures Consortium, DOI: 10.19088/APRA.2021.026.

Jocic, S., Miladinovic, D., Kaya, Y., 2015. Breeding and Genetics of Sunflower, in: Martínez-Force, E., Dunford, N.T., Salas, J.J. (Eds.), Sunflower: chemistry, production, processing and utilization. AOCS Press, Urbana, IL, pp. 187-226.

Ketema, M., Kebede, D., Dechassa, N., & Hundessa, F. (2016). Determinants of Adoption of Potato Production Technology Package by Smallholder Farmers: Evidences from Eastern Ethiopia. Review of Agricultural and Applied Economics, 19(2), 61–68. https://ageconsearch.umn.edu/record/254158/ [Accessed on 7 June 2022,16:00].

Khonje, M., Manda, J., Alene, A. and Kassie, M. (2015), "Analysis of adoption and impacts of

Kombe, C., Mpemba Z., Yabu N., Kazi M., Kibessa B., Mwita D., Mgangaluma E., Mashini S. Chaula A., Ndunguru E., Lugobi M. and Mziya M. (2017). *Potential of Sunflower Subsector in Tanzania*. The World Bank Working Paper number 10, 2017. 34pp.

Kosmowski F., Aragaw A., Kilian A., Ambel A., Ilukor J., Yigezu B., Stevenson J. et al. (2018) 'Varietal identification in household surveys: Results from three household-based methods against the benchmark of DNA fingerprinting in southern Ethiopia', Experimental Agriculture, 55: 371–85.

Launio, C.C., J.S. Luis and Y.B. Angeles. 2018. Factors influencing adoption of selected peanut protection and production technologies in Northern Luzon, Philippines. Technol. Soc., 55: 56-62.file:///C:/Users/Administrator/Downloads/Yield and Economic Analysis of Peanut Production u.p df [Accessed 5 June 2022].

Lavison, R. (2013). Factors Influencing the Adoption of Organic Fertilizers in Vegetable Production in Accra, Msc Thesis, Accra Ghana.

Leavens, M.K., Gugerty, M.K. and Anderson, C.L., 2019. Gender and agriculture in Tanzania. Gates Open Res, 3(1348), p.1348.Available online at:<u>https://gatesopenresearch.org/documents/3-1348</u> [Accessed on 1 May 2022]

Mabaya, E., Mzee, F., Temu, A. and Mugoya, M., 2017. Tanzania brief 2017-the African seed access index.Availableonlineat:https://tasai.org/tasai2016/wp-content/themes/tasai2016/img/tasai brief 2017 tanzania final Ir.pdf[Accessed on 24 May 2022 on 23:23]

Mc Guffog, T. 2016, Building effective value chains: value and its management, , London.

Mgeni, C.P. and Mpenda, Z.T., 2021. Can Sub-Saharan Africa become food self-sufficient? Analyzing the market demand for sunflower edible oil in Tanzania. Tanzania Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 20(1), pp.42-53.Available online at: <u>https://www.ajol.info/index.php/tjags/article/view/217164</u> [Accessed on 1 May 2022]

Mignouna DB, Mutabazi KDS, Senkondo EM, Manyong VM (2011). Imazapyr-resistant maize technology adoption for witch weed control in western Kenya. Afr. Crop Sci. J., 19: 187-196. https://academicjournals.org/journal/JDAE/article-full-text-pdf/C0048F98842.pdf

Milkias, D., & Abdulahi, A. (2018). Determinants of Agricultural Technology Adoption: The Case of Improved Highland Maize Varieties in Toke Kutaye District, Oromia Regional State, Ethiopia. Journal of Investment and Management, 7(4), 125–132. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.jim.20180704.13 [Crossref], [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

Mpeta, D. F. (2015). Effects of contract farming on production and income of sunflower farmers in Kongwa District in Central Agricultural Zone of Tanzania (Doctoral dissertation, Mzumbe University).

Mwangi, M., & Kariuki, S. (2015). Factors Determining Adoption of New Agricultural Technology by Smallholder Farmers in Developing Countries. Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development, 6(5), 208–216. [Accessed on 7 June 2022,]

Nata, J. F., Mjelde J. W. and Boadu, F. O. 2014. Household Adoption of Soil - Improving Practices and Food Insecurity in Ghana. Agric. Food Sec., 3: 17.

NBS,(2019)https://www.nbs.go.tz/nbs/takwimu/Agriculture/2019-20_Agri_Census_Main_Report.pdf .

Obayelu A, Ajayi O, Oluwalana E, Ogunmola O. What Does Literature Say About the Determinants of Adoption of Agricultural Technologies by Smallholders Farmers ?. Agri Res & Tech: Open Access J. 2017 ; 6(1) : 555676. DOI: 10.19080/ARTOAJ .2017.06.555676.

Poku, A., Birner, R. & Gupta, S. 2018, "Why do maize farmers in Ghana have a limited choice of improved seed varieties? An assessment of the governance challenges in seed supply", Food security, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 27-46.Available online at: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s12571-017-0749-0 , [Accessed on 7 June 2022,20:00]

Ponguane, S., & Mucavele, N. (2018). Determinants of Agricultural Technology Adoption in Chokwe District, Mozambique. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/86284/ [Accessed on 7 June 2022,16:53]

Pote.P.P, (2008), Technical Constraints To Smallholder Agriculture: Case Study Of Nkonkobe Municipality, Eastern Cape, South Africa. A Dissertation Submitted In Partial Fulfillment Of The Requirements Of The Degree Of Master Of Science In Agricultural Economics 16 April 2008.

Schut, M., Klerkx, L., Sartas, M., Lamers, D., Mc Campbell, M., Ogbonna, I., Kaushik, P., AttaKrah, K., Leeuwis, C., 2016. Innovation platforms: experiences with their institutional embedding in agricultural research for development. Exp. Agric. available open access on: http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S001447971500023X.

Shiferaw, B., Kassie, M., Jaleta, M. and Yirga, C. (2014), "Adoption of improved wheat varieties

Simtowe, F., Asfaw, S., & Abate, T. (2016). Determinants of Agricultural Technology Adoption under Partial Population Awareness: The Case of Pigeonpea in Malawi. Agricultural and Food Economics, 4(1), 7. https://agrifoodecon.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40100-016-0051-z [Accessed on 7 June 2022,16:30].

Solomon, M., Bamossy, G., Askegaard, S., & Hogg, M. (2014). Consumer behaviour: A European perspective, 5th edition. Harlow: Pearson Higher Education.

Takahashi, K., Muraoka, R. and Otsuka, K., 2020. Technology adoption, impact, and extension in developing countries' agriculture: A review of the recent literature. Agricultural Economics, 51(1), pp.31-45.

Tibamanya FY, Milanzi MA, Henningsen A. Drivers of and barriers to adoption of improved sunflower varieties amongst smallholder farmers in Singida, Tanzania: The double-hurdle approach. IFRO Working Paper; 2021.

Tibamanya, F. Y., Kuzilwa, J. A. and Mpeta, D. F. (2021) "OPPORTUNITIES FOR SELF-FINANCING THE USE OF HIGH-YIELDING SUNFLOWER SEEDS AMONGST SMALLHOLDER FARMERS IN TANZANIA: PERCEPTIONS VS. REALITY OF LIQUIDITY LIMITATIONS", *Acta Scientiarum Polonorum. Oeconomia*, 20(1), pp. 93–104. doi: 10.22630/ASPE.2021.20.1.9.

Tibamanya, F.Y., Henningsen, A. and Milanzi, M.A., 2022. Drivers of and barriers to adoption of improved
sunflower varieties amongst smallholder farmers in Singida, Tanzania: A double-hurdle approach. Q Open,
2(1), p.qoac008. Available online at:
https://academic.oup.com/qopen/article/2/1/qoac008/6569706?login=true [Accessed on 25 May 2022
at 13:56]

UN, 2015. Accesibility and Development: Mainstreaming disability in the post - 2015 development agenda. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/accessibility</u> _and_development.pdf [Accessed 09 June 2022].

Verschuren, P. and Doorewaard H.,2010. Designing A Research Project.2ed: Eleven International Publishing, The Hague.

Vilvert, E., Lana, M., Zander, P. and Sieber, S., 2018. Multi-model approach for assessing the sunflower food value chain in Tanzania. Agricultural Systems, 159, pp.103-110.Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0308521X17306455?via%3Dihub [Accessed on 8 June 2022,12:00]

Westengen, O.T. and Brysting, A.K., 2014. Crop adaptation to climate change in the semi-arid zone in
Tanzania: the role of genetic resources and seed systems. Agriculture & Food Security, 3(1), pp.1-12.Availableonlineat:<u>file:///C:/Users/Administrator/Desktop/Proposal/Westengen-</u>Brysting2014ArticleCropAdaptationToClimateChangel.pdf[Accessed on 25 May 2022 at 13:25]

WUR, 2017. Food and Business. [Online] Available at: <u>https://knowledge4food.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/170524</u> _NFP-Jakarta Introductory-paper-questions.pdf[Accessed 5 June 2022].

Yigezu, Y. A., Mugera, A., El-Shater, T., Aw-Hassan, A., Piggin, C., Haddad, A., & Loss, S. (2018). Enhancing
adoption of agricultural technologies requiring high initial investment among smallholders. Technological
Forecasting and Social Change, 134, 199–206.
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162517315391 , [Accessed on 7 June
2022,15:00]

Zegeye, M.B., Fikire, A.H. & Meshesha, G.B. 2022, "Determinants of multiple agricultural technology adoption: evidence from rural Amhara region, Ethiopia", Cogent economics & finance, vol. 10, no. 1.

Zhihua Zeng, Douglas. 2017. *The sunflower sector in Tanzania – A great potential for industrial competitiveness* (English). Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group.



Appendix 1: Farmers' survey questionnaires

Introduction on the study.

I am Erasto Mwasomola, from Van Hall Larenstein University of Applied Sciences conducting an academic research on the smallholder farmers adoption of certified Sunflower oil seed in Kalambo District. Your participation is needed and appreciated for this study in order to understand the factors that limiting the adoption so that I can recommend for improvement and increasing adoption rate. You are kindly requested to cooperate in answering questions from this questionnaire; the information you provide is going to be used for academic purposes only and will remain confidential.

Section 1: Socio-demographic information

- 1. Village.....
- 2. Farmers' ward.....
- **3.** Age
- **4.** Sex
- 5. What is the area of farm under sunflower cultivation?.....
- 6. Is production output mainly for?
 - (a) Domestic (b) Commercial (b) Both (d) Others specify
- 7. What's your education background?

(a) Never been to school(b) Primary level (c) Secondary level (d) Certificate level (e) College level

Section 2: Sunflower production & Marketing

8. How much sunflower seed do you harvest per Acre?

- 9. How much of these (sunflower oil seed harvested per hectare) are rejected during grading?
- 10. How long have you been farming?
- (a) <5 years (b)6-10 years (c)11-15 years (d)>16 years
- 11. Where do you sell your sunflower oil seed?
- (a) traders (b) local market (c) processors (d) Retailer (e) others specify
- 12. Where do you get about market information of sunflower?
- (a)from traders (b)from radio (c) from television (d) from extension officer (e)others specify

13. There are several improved sunflower varieties available, do you have a preference for a variety? Please rank the sunflower varieties listed (1 =Not preferred, 2=Least preferred, 3=Preferred, 4=More preferred,5 = most preferred),

	1	2	3	4	5
RECORD					
CRN 1435					
PAN 7352					
KENYA FEDHA					
NSFH 36					
NSFH 145					
AGUARA 4					
HYSUN 33					
ANCILLA					
MICHEL					
SOLEADO					
ARCHEO					
SUPERSUN64					
SUPERSUN66					
NALSUN 1-2018					
NALSUN 2-2018					
AGUARA 6					

14. Which sunflower variety do you actually grow?

- 15. Do you use Certified Sunflower oil seed? (a) Yes (b) No
- 16. How did you get information about the certified sunflower seed?

(a)From a neighbor farmer

(b)From an extension officer

(c)From media

(d)From the Certified Sunflower producer

(e)Other (*please mention*)

17. What is your source of sunflower seed to grow ?

(a)Own served

(b)Neighboring farmers

(c) From Agrovet

(c)Other (please mention)

18. If you are not using Certified Sunflower seed, can you rate the reasons of not using from the list.

No varieties of my choice	
Not available locally	
I cannot afford it	
I have no information about the sunflower seed	
I don't believe it is better than the informal sunflower seed	

19. What is guiding your choice of sunflower oil seed variety to grow?

You can select more than one choice

(a)Variety needed in the market?

(b)Resistance of the variety to diseases?

(c)Financial Returns of the variety per hectare

(d)Availability of the seed

(e)Agronomic attributes of the variety

(f)Other (please mention)

- 20. How many times do you get the extension service in a year?
- 21. What are challenges do you face in growing sunflower?
- 22. What are the problems that face in marketing?
- 23. Do you have decision making on price? (a) Yes (b) No
- 24. What is the price of sunflower oil seed per 60kg /bags during harvesting?
- 25. Who are your customers?
 - (a) Local markets (b) Institution (c) Supermarkets (d) Others specify
- 26. What is the quality of sunflower oil seed that your customers require? (a) type of variety (b) oil content (c) Others specify
- 27. Do you get any support from the Government(a) yes (b) no
- 28. Which kind of support do you get? (a) training (b) incentives (c) advice (d) No support received
- 29. Do you get any support from NGOs(a) yes (b) no
- 30. Which kind of Support do you get? (a) training (b) incentives (c) loans (d) No support received
- 31. Who links you to the market? (a) NGOs. (b)Extension officer (c) Others specify
- 32. Do you see any opportunities to improve the market of sunflower oil seed?

Appendix 2: Checklist Interview question

Checklist interview questions to the FGD team (Farmers)

- 1. Who are your partner in day to day production of sunflower?
- 2. In which areas do you cooperate with your partners?
- 3. What services do you get from NGOs in sunflower sub sector?
- 4. What services do you get from the District Council?
- 5. Who is the buyer of your sunflower oil seed?
- 6. What is the price of certified sunflower seed per kilo?
- 7. Are you satisfied with the price certified sunflower seed?
- 8. Do you know about certified sunflower seed?
- 9. Where do buy your certified sunflower oil seed?
- 10. What challenges do you encounter in using certified sunflower seed?

- 11. What do you see as opportunities to improve your sunflower oil seed production?
- 12. What support do you offer to your members?

2.2 Checklist Interview questions to Local Trader

- 1. Where are you buying the sunflower and its by-products?
- 2. Where are you selling the sunflower and its by-products?
- 3. What are the costs and level of profit gained in your buying and trading sunflower and its byproducts?
- 4. Do you get required quality of sunflower from smallholder farmers?
- 5. What quality attributes do you want from farmers in order to meet your market?
- 6. What are the challenges you encounter in sunflower trading?
- 7. What challenges do you think are facing the sunflower value chain most in the District?
- 8. What do you see as opportunities in improving sunflower value chain in the District?
- 9. What are your suggestions in general improvement of the sunflower value chain in the District?

2.3 Checklist For Sunflower Seed Processors

i. How do you source your raw materials (ware sunflower oil seed)? (direct from farmers, through middlemen, other)

ii. How do you rank the quality if the sunflower oil seed you are getting from the market? (fair, good, best)

iii. Do you face challenges on quality of the sunflower oil seed from your sources? What is the most quality challenge with the sunflower? (oil content, size, variety, diseases, other)

- iv. What varieties do you prefer to process? And Why?
- v. What varieties can you get from the market? Is it sufficient?
- vi. What is your processing capacity? Does the supply fill the volume requirements?
- vii. What other challenges do you face on your business as a processor?

viii. What solutions do you suggest to the named challenges?

ix. Do you think there is an opportunity for the sunflower sector to grow? Can you name the opportunities?

2.4. Checklist For Certified Sunflower Seed Producers/Multipliers Interviews

- i. What sunflower seed varieties do you grow?
- ii. What is the price of the sunflower seed variety per kilo?
- iii. What is the productivity potential of the varieties you are growing?
- iv. What is guiding your choice for the sunflower seed production?
- v. What is your target market for the sunflower seed?
- vi. How do you promote your sunflower seed?
- vii. How do you sell your sunflower seed? Deliver/have agents/online/physical
- viii. What enabled your sunflower seed growing business?
- ix. What hindered your sunflower seed business?
- x. What could be the possible solutions?
- xi. Who are the players/actors/stakeholders to provide the solution? Including your role.
- xii. What opportunities are there in the sunflower sub-sector?

2.5 Checklist interview questions to DAICO

- 1. What support and services do you provide to the sunflower smallholder farmers in the District?
- 2. What are support and services do you provide for improving the sunflower value chain in the District?
- 3. What do you think is the reason for low adoption of certified sunflower oil seed in your District?
- 4. What challenges do you encounter in supporting the sunflower subsector in the District?
- 5. What do you see as opportunities in the sunflower subsector?
- 6. What are your future plan for improving the sunflower value chain in the District?

2.6 Checklist For Experts Interview(Agriculture Extension officers)

i. What role do you play in the sunflower sector? You and your Institution

- ii. What can you name as the causes for farmers to NOT use Certified Sunflower seed?
- iii. What opportunities are there in the sunflower sector?

iv. What are the challenges facing actors in the sunflower sector? Farmers, sunflower seed producers, researchers, etc

- v. What strategies do you think can be formulated to contain the challenges of the sector?
- vi. Who are important stakeholders in sunflower sector in Tanzania?
- vii. Are there any certified sunflower seed producers in your area?

Appendix 3: Test statistics from analysis

Test statistics

3.1 (a)Chi -square test

Test for difference in use of certified sunflower seed basing on year of farming experience.

Chi-square test at 95% level of confidence and confidence limit, α =5% (0.05)

Hypothesis

Null hypothesis (H₀): There is no difference in the use of certified sunflower seed between farmers with different year of farming experience.

Alternative hypothesis (H₁) : There is a difference in the use of certified sunflower seed between farmers with different year of farming experience.

Test Statistics

	How long hav	Do you eCertified	use
	you bee farming?	nSunflower seed?	oil
Chi-Square	11.450ª	6.400 ^b	
df	2	1	
Asymp. Sig.	.003	.011	

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected frequencies less than 5. The minimum expected cell frequency is 13.3.

b. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected frequencies less than 5. The minimum expected cell frequency is 20.0.

3.1 (b)Chi -square test

Test for difference in use of certified sunflower seed basing on education background of the farmer.

Chi-square test at 95% level of confidence and confidence limit, α =5% (0.05)

Null hypothesis (H₀): There is no difference in the use of certified sunflower seed between farmers with different education background of the farmer.

Alternative hypothesis (H₁) : There is a difference in the use of certified sunflower seed between farmers with different education background of the farmer.

Test Statistics

		Do you	use
	What's your	Certified	
	education	Sunflower	oil
	background	seed?	
	FO 0003	c 400b	
Chi-Square	50.000	6.400~	
df	3	1	
Asymp. Sig.	.000	.011	

a. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected frequencies less than 5. The minimum expected cell frequency is 10.0.

b. 0 cells (0.0%) have expected frequencies less than 5. The minimum expected cell frequency is 20.0.

3.2 One way ANOVA test

ANOVA

What is your Ward

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	5.903	4	1.476	1.171	.340
Within Groups	44.097	35	1.260		
Total	50.000	39			

Multiple Comparisons

Dependent Variable: What is your Ward Tukey HSD

(I) If you are not using certified sunflower seed can you rate the reason from the list	(J) If you are not using certified sunflower seed can you rate the reason from the list	Mean Difference (I- J)	Std. Error	Sig.	95% Confide	ence Interval Upper Bound
No varieties of my choice	l can not afford it	.788	.642	.735	-1.06	2.63
	I have no information about certified sunflower seed	.250	.725	.997	-1.83	2.33
	l don't believe if it is better than informal sunflower seeds	.850	.753	.790	-1.31	3.01
	No reason	1.167	.648	.390	70	3.03
I can not afford it	No varieties of my choice	788	.642	.735	-2.63	1.06
	I have no information about certified sunflower seed	538	.554	.866	-2.13	1.05
	l don't believe if it is better than informal sunflower seeds	.062	.591	1.000	-1.64	1.76
	No reason	.378	.449	.916	91	1.67
I have no information	No varieties of my choice	250	.725	.997	-2.33	1.83
about certified sunflower seed	I can not afford it	.538	.554	.866	-1.05	2.13
	l don't believe if it is better than informal sunflower seeds	.600	.680	.901	-1.35	2.55
	No reason	.917	.561	.487	70	2.53
I don't believe if it is better	No varieties of my choice	850	.753	.790	-3.01	1.31
than informal sunflower seeds	l can not afford it	062	.591	1.000	-1.76	1.64
	l have no information about certified sunflower seed	600	.680	.901	-2.55	1.35
	No reason	.317	.597	.984	-1.40	2.03
No reason	No varieties of my choice	-1.167	.648	.390	-3.03	.70
	I can not afford it	378	.449	.916	-1.67	.91
	l have no information about certified sunflower seed	917	.561	.487	-2.53	.70
	l don't believe if it is better than informal sunflower seeds	317	.597	.984	-2.03	1.40



3.3 Frequencies uses of certified sunflower seed





If you are not using certified sunflower seed can you rate the reason from the list



What is guiding your choice of sunflower oil seed variety to grow?



What's your education background

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Never been to school	3	7.5	7.5	7.5
	Primary level	29	72.5	72.5	80.0
	Secondary level	7	17.5	17.5	97.5
	Certificate level	1	2.5	2.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	









What is the area of farm under sunflower cultivation?



How much sunflower seed do you harvest per Acre?



What are challenges do you face in growing sunflower?





What are the problems that face in marketing?

Appendix : 4 Frequency Tables

What is your Village

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Mkowe	10	25.0	25.0	25.0
	Kisungamile	10	25.0	25.0	50.0
	Sopa	10	25.0	25.0	75.0
	Kizombwe	10	25.0	25.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What is your Ward

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Mkowe	10	25.0	25.0	25.0
	Mkali	10	25.0	25.0	50.0
	Sopa	10	25.0	25.0	75.0
	Matai	10	25.0	25.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What is your Age?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	21 -30	8	20.0	20.0	20.0
	31 - 40	12	30.0	30.0	50.0
	41 - 50	9	22.5	22.5	72.5
	51 -60	8	20.0	20.0	92.5
	61 -70	3	7.5	7.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What is your Gender

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Male	18	45.0	45.0	45.0
	Female	22	55.0	55.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What is the area of farm under sunflower cultivation?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 - 1.5 Acre	11	27.5	27.5	27.5
	2- 2.5 Acre	13	32.5	32.5	60.0
	3 - 3.5 Acre	5	12.5	12.5	72.5
	4 - 4.5 Acre	6	15.0	15.0	87.5
	5 - 5.5 Acre	3	7.5	7.5	95.0
	6 and Above Acres	2	5.0	5.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Is production output mainly for?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Domestic	12	30.0	30.0	30.0
	Commercial	12	30.0	30.0	60.0
	Both	16	40.0	40.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What's your education background

Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent

Valid	Never been to school	3	7.5	7.5	7.5
	Primary level	29	72.5	72.5	80.0
	Secondary level	7	17.5	17.5	97.5
	Certificate level	1	2.5	2.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

How much sunflower seed do you harvest per Acre?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	2 - 2.5 bags	6	15.0	15.0	15.0
	3 - 3.5 bags	16	40.0	40.0	55.0
	4 - 4.5 bags	9	22.5	22.5	77.5
	5 -5.5 bags	1	2.5	2.5	80.0
	6 and above bags	8	20.0	20.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

How much of these (sunflower oil seed harvested per hectare) are rejected during grading?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 - 2 tins	16	40.0	40.0	40.0
	3 - 4 tins	9	22.5	22.5	62.5
	5 - 6 tins	5	12.5	12.5	75.0
	7 and above tins	10	25.0	25.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

How long have you been farming?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	1 - 5 years	23	57.5	57.5	57.5

6 -	10 years	11	27.5	27.5	85.0
11	- 15 years	6	15.0	15.0	100.0
Tot	tal	40	100.0	100.0	

Where do you sell your sunflower oil seed?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Traders	31	77.5	77.5	77.5
	Local market	5	12.5	12.5	90.0
	Processor	4	10.0	10.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Where do you get about market information of sunflower?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	From traders	37	92.5	92.5	92.5
	From radio	1	2.5	2.5	95.0
	From Extension Officer	2	5.0	5.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

There are several improved sunflower varieties available, do you have a preference for a variety?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Not preferred	28	70.0	70.0	70.0
	More preferred	4	10.0	10.0	80.0
	Most preferred	8	20.0	20.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Which sunflower variety do you actually grow?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Local varieties	28	70.0	70.0	70.0
	Certified varieties	12	30.0	30.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Do you use Certified Sunflower oil seed?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	12	30.0	30.0	30.0
	No	28	70.0	70.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

How did you get information about the certified sunflower seed?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	From neighbour farmer	24	60.0	60.0	60.0
	From Extension officer	3	7.5	7.5	67.5
	From media	7	17.5	17.5	85.0
	From certified sunflower producer	r6	15.0	15.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What is your source of sunflower seed to grow?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Own served	25	62.5	62.5	62.5
	Neighbouring farmers	3	7.5	7.5	70.0
	From Agrovet	12	30.0	30.0	100.0

Total	40	100.0	100.0	

If you are not using certified sunflower seed can you rate the reason from the list

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No varieties of my choice	4	10.0	10.0	10.0
	I can not afford it	13	32.5	32.5	42.5
	I have no information about certified sunflower seed	6	15.0	15.0	57.5
	I don't believe if it is better than informal sunflower seeds	5	12.5	12.5	70.0
	No reason	12	30.0	30.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What is guiding your choice of sunflower oil seed variety to grow?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Variety needed in the market	8	20.0	20.0	20.0
	Resistance of the variety to diseases	o10	25.0	25.0	45.0
	Financial return of the variety per hectare	/18	45.0	45.0	90.0
	Availability of the seed	4	10.0	10.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

How many times do you get the extension service in a year?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0 visit	16	40.0	40.0	40.0
	1 visit	10	25.0	25.0	65.0
	2 visit	6	15.0	15.0	80.0
3 visit	1	2.5	2.5	82.5	
---------	----	-------	-------	-------	
4 visit	7	17.5	17.5	100.0	
Total	40	100.0	100.0		

What are challenges do you face in growing sunflower?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Pests and diseases	11	27.5	27.5	27.5
	Low productivity	10	25.0	25.0	52.5
	High price of Agro inputs	8	20.0	20.0	72.5
	Delaying of Agro inputs	5	12.5	12.5	85.0
	Low extension services	6	15.0	15.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

What are the problems that face in marketing?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Low price	23	57.5	57.5	57.5
	Use of un authorized measuring standard	19	22.5	22.5	80.0
	Low seed oil content	2	5.0	5.0	85.0
	Un able to set selling price	6	15.0	15.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Do you have decision making on price?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	No	40	100.0	100.0	100.0

What is the price of sunflower oil seed per 60kg /bags during harvesting?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Tsh 30000 - Tsh 40000	21	52.5	52.5	52.5
	Tsh 50000 - Tsh 60000	18	45.0	45.0	97.5
	Tsh 70000 - Tsh 80000	1	2.5	2.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Who are your customers?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Local market	40	100.0	100.0	100.0

What is the quality of sunflower oil seed that your customers require?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Type of variety	5	12.5	12.5	12.5
	Oil content	35	87.5	87.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Do you get any support from the Government?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	18	45.0	45.0	45.0
	No	22	55.0	55.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Which kind of support do you get from the Government?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Training	9	22.5	22.5	22.5
	Advice	9	22.5	22.5	45.0
	No support received	22	55.0	55.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Do you get any support from NGOs?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	7	17.5	17.5	17.5
	No	33	82.5	82.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Which kind ofSupport do you get from NGOs?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Training	7	17.5	17.5	17.5
	No support received	33	82.5	82.5	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

Who links you to the market?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	NGo's	2	5.0	5.0	5.0
	Extension Officers	11	27.5	27.5	32.5
	Traders	17	42.5	42.5	75.0
	Neighbour farmer	10	25.0	25.0	100.0
	Total	40	100.0	100.0	

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	40	100.0	100.0	100.0

Do you see any opportunities to improve the market of sunflower oil seed?

APPENDIX : FIELD WORK PICTURES



Source :Field work & Authors interview (2022)



Source :Field work & Authors interview (2022)



Source :Field work & Authors interview (2022)